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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to

          3  today's Finance Committee hearing. My name is David

          4  Weprin, and I chair the Committee.

          5                 On the left over here is Council

          6  Member Michael Nelson who chairs the subcommittee of

          7  this Committee, from Brooklyn. And next to me is

          8  Council Member Helen Sears, who is the main sponsor

          9  of the proposed resolution on co-op and condos that

         10  we're going to be hearing testimony today.

         11                 Today we will hold a hearing on the

         12  issues surrounding the inequity, the property tax

         13  treatment between one-, two- and three-family homes,

         14  and homes owned in the cooperative or condominium

         15  form of ownership.

         16                 The hearing is called for by

         17  Resolution 74, as I mentioned, sponsored by Council

         18  Member Helen Sears of the Committee, and

         19  co-sponsored by several other members of this

         20  Committee, including myself.

         21                 Our system of property taxation is

         22  designed to favor home ownership in the City of New

         23  York. For this reason, one-, two- and three-family

         24  homes have a target assessment ratio of eight

         25  percent of their market value.
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          2                 Other types of property have target

          3  assessment ratios that are substantially closer to

          4  their market values.

          5                 In addition, there are caps of how

          6  much the assessments of Class 1 homes can increase

          7  during times of rapidly increasing market prices.

          8                 This is a good thing, because while a

          9  home is an asset, most home-owners are not using

         10  them to generate income, but rather to fulfill the

         11  basic needs for shelter.

         12                 Thus, encouraging home ownership and

         13  protecting home-owners from rapidly increasing taxes

         14  during economic booms, are worthy goals of a

         15  property tax system. However, this being New York

         16  City, almost 40 percent of the home-owners here do

         17  not live in houses, rather they own apartments in

         18  multiple unit buildings, either in the cooperative

         19  or condominium form of ownership.

         20                 These homes for tax purposes are

         21  treated as if they are rental properties, and have

         22  target assessment ratios about five and a half times

         23  that of class 1 homes. This created a situation in

         24  the early 1990s where co-op and condo home-owners

         25  were paying about three times the property taxes
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          2  paid by similar class 1 home-owners.

          3                 Because of this inequitable

          4  treatment, the State Legislature, at the urging of

          5  the City Council and the last Administration,

          6  adopted a partial property tax abatement for co-op

          7  and condo owners. The abatement was 25 percent of

          8  the taxes for co-ops and condos whose assessed value

          9  were $15,000 or less and 17.5 percent for co-op and

         10  condos whose assessed values were greater than

         11  $15,000.

         12                 The Legislature viewed this as a

         13  first step toward addressing the inequity between

         14  homes owned as co-ops and condos and class 1 homes.

         15  They asked the last Administration to develop a plan

         16  to address the remaining inequity, something that

         17  was never done.

         18                 The property tax abatement for co-op

         19  and condo owners has been reauthorized several

         20  times, and is up for renewal this year as well.

         21                 Assemblyman Pete Grannis has

         22  introduced legislation to renew the current

         23  abatement and his legislation once again calls for a

         24  plan to address the continuing inequities.

         25                 Any plan to fully address the
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          2  inequities will need much study and debate. However,

          3  today we hope to begin the dialogue by hearing from

          4  the Administration and co-op and condo

          5  representatives.

          6                 I would like to thank my colleague,

          7  Helen Sears, for sponsoring this Resolution, and I

          8  will turn over to her for a statement in a moment.

          9                 We are also going to be considering

         10  three preconsidered Land Use items, involving tax

         11  exemptions with various affordable housing projects.

         12                 The first of these is Allen Cathedral

         13  Senior Residence in Council Member Leroy Comrie's

         14  District, which provides 220 units of housing for

         15  low-income seniors.

         16                 The second project is eight buildings

         17  in Council Member Jose Serrano's district, operated

         18  by the Banana Kelly Community Improvement

         19  Association.

         20                 And the third is a two-family home

         21  developed by Habitat for Humanity, in Council Member

         22  Minority Leader Jim Oddo's district.

         23                 I understand the projects have the

         24  approval of the respective Council members.

         25                 We will also be hearing from the
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          2  Director of Office of Management and Budget, Mark

          3  Page, probably in about an hour. So, you might want

          4  to stay tuned for that as well. A number of my

          5  colleagues have joined us.

          6                 We have Council Member Jim Gennaro

          7  from Queens. In the order I saw them, Council Member

          8  Simcha Felder, from Brooklyn on the right; and

          9  Council Member Christine Quinn on the left.

         10                 I will now turn the mic over to my

         11  colleague and sponsor of the main resolution today,

         12  Council Member Helen Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 Before I really make a very brief

         16  statement so we can get on with those who are here,

         17  and I appreciate all of you being here, because I

         18  know your time restrictions are such and have to go

         19  back to your jobs and everything else.

         20                 I really want to thank the Chair of

         21  the Finance Committee, my colleague David Weprin.

         22                 Since January of 2003, when I first

         23  introduced this resolution calling for this hearing,

         24  that we finally have it, and it has been due to the

         25  perseverance, the cooperation of the Chair of this
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          2  Committee that we are here today.

          3                 It has been a long road, and as David

          4  said, it is the first to really start some very

          5  strong negotiations. So, I once again thank you. And

          6  I thank the members of the Committee for being here.

          7                 After a year, advocacy, letters,

          8  editorials, meetings and mailings, this hearing is

          9  taking place. The inequity in the real property tax

         10  is the most pressing issue for many working families

         11  who own co-ops and condos, and pay so much more than

         12  their counterparts who own one-, two- and

         13  three-family homes.

         14                 David has read to you what the

         15  formulas are and what is happening with that, and

         16  I'm not going to take time to repeat what you have

         17  already heard.

         18                 What I would like to say is that in

         19  1994, the Mayor and the City Council agreed to

         20  develop a plan to gradually eliminate the inequity,

         21  and as a result the State adopted the real property

         22  tax law 467, and what this did was to allow owners

         23  of co-ops and condos to apply for and receive the

         24  property tax abatements that were stated.

         25                 That was a temporary solution, and
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          2  that was ten years ago. We have gone a long way to

          3  solve this problem, and we haven't. After ten years

          4  we are having this hearing, on the road to reaching

          5  some kind of equitable and fair solution. And what I

          6  wish to say is that in no way was this resolution

          7  put forth so that we would reduce the financial

          8  burdens from the condos and co-ops and shift this to

          9  another class. That is not what it's about. We can

         10  absolutely look at this in a realistic, fair and

         11  equitable way. And that's what the intention of this

         12  hearing is. It's not to shift the burden to another

         13  class.

         14                 Now, you may say how do we do that?

         15  We can do that. We can do that by absolutely looking

         16  at and assessing and reviewing what those inequities

         17  are, and how we can reach a fair solution. And that

         18  is what our goal is, that is what the mission is,

         19  and that's what the objection of this hearing is.

         20  And I believe that we can do that? And I believe

         21  that after we hear the testimony of those who have

         22  been co-op and condo owners for many, many, many

         23  years, I think that you would grasp of how we can do

         24  this and why we should do it.

         25                 So, thank you for being here. I thank
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          2  the Chair again, and members of the Committee,

          3  because it will have to come out of this Committee

          4  at some point.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          7  Council Member.

          8                 We've also been joined by Council

          9  Member Margarita Lopez, from Manhattan, and Council

         10  Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn. And on my immediate

         11  right, I didn't introduce the staff, is Jim Caras,

         12  our Counsel to the Committee, Finance Committee, and

         13  Nadine Felton from the Finance Committee.

         14                 The first witness will be James

         15  McManus, from the Queens Borough Houses Association.

         16                 Is Mr. McManus here?

         17                 Then we're going to go directly to

         18  Rudy Greco, from the Jackson Heights Beautification

         19  Group.

         20                 MR. GRECO: I'm Rudy Greco, and I'm

         21  President of the Jackson Heights Beautification

         22  Group, arguably the largest civic organization in

         23  Jackson Heights.

         24                 As many of you know, Jackson Heights

         25  is the home of the original co-op community in the
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          2  United States. We have many, many, many buildings.

          3  Eighty of them were built first starting in 1915 by

          4  the Queens Borough Corporation.

          5                 Jackson Heights is also arguably the

          6  most diverse place on the planet, and as manifested

          7  by PS 69, which is filled with 2,000 children from

          8  over 70 countries speaking 40 different languages,

          9  and the school is on the Chancellor's list of the

         10  high-performing schools.

         11                 Jackson Heights is filled with middle

         12  class working people, the people who sustain this

         13  City.

         14                 Like other communities throughout the

         15  City, Regal Park, Riverdale in the Bronx, Rochdale

         16  Village, Bayridge, Brighton Beach, Briarwood,

         17  Jackson Heights, Chelsea, Greenwich Village, the

         18  West Side, Jackson Heights is one of the backbone

         19  communities of this City and this tax rate creates a

         20  problem for the backbone and we all know what the

         21  consequences are when a backbone is injured or

         22  misaligned, there's a problem.

         23                 The second point I'd like to make is

         24  that everything in the universe calls for balance,

         25  whether it's music, your diet, engineering, your
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          2  ledger book, business, medicine. All the universe

          3  calls for balance. This is an imbalance and it needs

          4  to be corrected, because imbalance that's not

          5  corrected is a disease or a serious mechanical

          6  problem.

          7                 And, finally, to be brief, America,

          8  and our entire system of government, including the

          9  New York City government, is built on the principals

         10  of equality, fairness and justice and this is an

         11  inequality, it's unfair, it's unjust, it needs to be

         12  corrected.

         13                 We are among, those of us in New York

         14  City are among the most highly taxed people in the

         15  country, but speaking for myself and my neighbors,

         16  and all of those who live here in New York City, we

         17  choose to live here because it's the best place in

         18  the world to live. To quote Jimmy Breselin,

         19  "everything outside of New York is Bridgeport,

         20  Connecticut." Don't make Bridgeport look good. It's

         21  an old quote. Let's not make Bridgeport look any

         22  better than it needs to look, and let's take care of

         23  the people who sustain New York.

         24                 Thank you very much. I'm in favor of

         25  this proposition. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Greco, can

          3  you just stay, in case we have any questions?

          4                 MR. GRECO: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: For a minute.

          6  Just sit down for a second.

          7                 MR. GRECO: Cross-examination.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

          9  by Council Member Eric Gioia, from Queens. A new

         10  member of this Committee, and I believe it's his

         11  first Finance Committee hearing, as well as Council

         12  Member Gennaro, also from Queens, and it's his first

         13  meeting and I want to particularly welcome my two

         14  Queens' colleagues.

         15                 Do any of my colleagues have any

         16  questions for Mr. Greco?

         17                 Seeing none, you're excused.

         18                 MR. GRECO: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 MR. GRECO: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

         23  is Mary Reddy.

         24                 She represents Hawthorne Court and

         25  she's also from Jackson Heights.
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          2                 We have a substitute for Mary Reddy.

          3                 MS. MORRIS: Yes, I'm speaking for

          4  Mary Reddy, who is the president of the Hawthorne

          5  Court Council.

          6                 My name is Elizabeth Morris, and I

          7  have been a resident of Hawthorne Court since 1957.

          8                 So, I read a letter that the Court

          9  Council addresses to the Committee.

         10                 Ladies and gentlemen of the City

         11  Council Finance Committee. Hawthorne Court is

         12  located in one of the landmarked areas of Jackson

         13  Heights, Queens.

         14                 We are located between 76th and 77th

         15  Streets and 37th and 35th Avenues. Hawthorne Court

         16  was built as a cooperative in 1921, and it's

         17  comprised of 14 individual corporations,

         18  encompassing 140 units, all owner occupied.

         19                 Many of our tenant owners are senior

         20  citizens on fixed income, and in my building alone,

         21  50 percent of the tenant owners are senior citizens.

         22                 Income received by the cooperatives

         23  is strictly used to maintain our property with no

         24  profit. In addition, as landmark cooperatives, the

         25  cost of restoration and repair is astronomical.
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          2                 We support Councilwoman Helen Sears

          3  and her concerns about the gross inequities in the

          4  current real property tax law. We respectfully urge

          5  the Committee to consider classifying owner occupied

          6  co-ops and condos as class 1 properties.

          7                 Thank you for your consideration.

          8                 Sincerely, Mary Reddy, President.

          9                 Questions?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Anybody have any

         11  questions?

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 The next Speaker is Nicholas Biasi.

         14  He's from East Elmhurst Queens, with the North Ridge

         15  Section 2 Co-op.

         16                 MR. BIASI: I've been the president of

         17  North Ridge Co-op for at least the last 15 years.

         18  And North Ridge Co-op, we have approximately 400

         19  apartments, families that we take care of. Average

         20  length, gas and electric included $415 a month. The

         21  best buy you could find in this City, which goes to

         22  show we're all self-managed. We don't have no

         23  $100,000 a year managers or supers. We do everything

         24  ourselves. I have another Board member here, and

         25  that's why co-ops work.
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          2                 We have a lot of senior citizens that

          3  we have a lot of problems with. Thank God they're

          4  living in there at these low rents, because

          5  otherwise the burden of these people would be on the

          6  City of New York to find how to take care of them,

          7  because they could not afford to go out and pay the

          8  rents that they would have to pay.

          9                 We have apartment buildings in the

         10  neighborhood that are renting for $1,200 and $1,300

         11  a month without utilities, without elevators,

         12  without immediate repairs when they need them, and

         13  without NORC programs that we supply, without a rec

         14  room, community room, gymnasium, and we do this with

         15  an average income of $415 a month.

         16                 We have a lot of young people moving

         17  into our co-ops as the old people are phasing out,

         18  unfortunately, and they use the co-ops, they stay

         19  several years and build up some equity and they use

         20  it as a stepping stone to move on.

         21                 In the last few years, give you an

         22  example, two years ago our insurance before 9/11 was

         23  $55,000 a year. Last year was $155,000. But we have

         24  absorbed it. And how did we absorb some of this?

         25  There has not been an increase in -- I think in the
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          2  last ten years it's been approximately about a two

          3  percent increase in maintenance in the last ten

          4  years.

          5                 How did we do it? As some of the

          6  co-ops have increased in equity, we do have a flip

          7  tax that we've been generating income, and by that

          8  way we've been able to keep the maintenance down.

          9  But we are running short with the price. This will

         10  not last much longer with the price -- with the fuel

         11  that's been going up. I used to buy fuel for, just

         12  not too long ago, for 62 cents a gallon, now I'm

         13  paying $1.29 a gallon. Same with gas and our other

         14  utilities. The way I look at this is we could be

         15  treated exactly the same as a homeowner. Is there a

         16  difference when one person owns a home or 500 people

         17  own a piece of the home? There is no difference.

         18                 We should be treated the same as

         19  these private home-owners. We are being taxed. We

         20  can't absorb it any longer. We pay over $600,000 a

         21  year just on one co-op in real estate taxes alone.

         22                 In the last few years we've been

         23  getting abatement, but we shouldn't have to go every

         24  three, four years hat in hand. It should be just

         25  like a private homeowner, and this should be a
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          2  permanent thing. We're not second class citizens,

          3  there's an old adage that says if it isn't broke,

          4  don't fix it.

          5                 Right now we're hanging on the co-op.

          6  Don't wait until the co-ops are broken. Then you're

          7  going to really have a job on your hands trying to

          8  get these things fixed.

          9                 Please just treat us like a

         10  home-owner. That's all we ask for. We just want to

         11  be equal with everybody else in the City that owns a

         12  home. Thank you.

         13                 Also, I was told to mention, we

         14  belong to the Coordinating Council of Cooperatives

         15  that represent over 10,000 families, and they're in

         16  favor of this, Ed Yaeger asked me to pass on. He was

         17  the Chairman of the Council, that he's in favor of

         18  this resolution.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Biasi.

         22                 Any of my colleagues have any

         23  questions?

         24                 Yes, Mr. Biasi. Could you just say

         25  for a minute?
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          2                 MR. BIASI: Oh, I'm sorry.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          4  Nelson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just a quick

          6  one.

          7                 How difficult is it going to be,

          8  actually, to maintain this affordable housing mecca

          9  that you've so skillfully engineered, and hats are

         10  off to you.

         11                 MR. BIAIS: We're hanging off the edge

         12  of the building by our fingertips. In our last

         13  budget, because we have a reserve, we ran negative

         14  budgets without an increase to everyone, because we

         15  have some money in reserve, and as I said, we've

         16  been generating money by income resale, okay? When

         17  someone sells an apartment, we get 25 percent back

         18  of the profit of the apartment.

         19                 So, by that we've been able to

         20  maintain the buildings. We just put all new fronts

         21  in. This is coming to an end. We're living in a

         22  fool's paradise, because somewhere along -- like it

         23  did several years ago, when the co-op market dropped

         24  and everything, we had to refinance. We found

         25  ourselves in real bad trouble at that time. We had
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          2  to give an increase and all. So, that's why I say if

          3  it isn't broke don't fix it. But don't wait until

          4  it's broken. And it's getting close to that. We need

          5  relief. We need relief to offset the cost of fuel,

          6  the cost of electricity, the cost of repairs.

          7                 Our people belong to 32 BJ, they get

          8  every perk in the world, every holiday. I think they

          9  do better than City employees.

         10                 In fact, I'm sitting here and it's a

         11  little cool. We give a lot more heat than you guys.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, you've

         13  done an astounding job.

         14                 MR. BIASI: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Your co-op

         16  appears to be a model for the City. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, we're still

         18  not over the fiscal crisis, that's why we keep the

         19  heat down a little bit.

         20                 The next witness is Stan Stolar, from

         21  Beechhurst, Queens, who is representing the Cryder

         22  Point Owners Corporation.

         23                 MR. STOLAR: Good morning. Cryder

         24  Point is a co-op of about 328 units situated on what

         25  I consider what are one of the prime pieces of real
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          2  estate in Queens. We're on the water between the

          3  Whitestone and Throggsneck Bridge. And

          4  unfortunately, we can't keep our maintenance as low

          5  as North Ridge. We have had maintenance increases.

          6  We have had a large reserve, which I consider

          7  necessary.

          8                 We have about three months,

          9  equivalent of three months maintenance in our

         10  reserves. The buildings are 50 years old, and there

         11  are things going wrong all the time, roofs,

         12  terraces, and we try to keep our expenses down,

         13  unfortunately we can't.

         14                 A lot of what I'm going to say has

         15  already been said, but I think it bears repeating.

         16  Under the present method of assessing real estate,

         17  co-ops and condos play a disproportionate share

         18  portion of real estate taxes as compared to their

         19  value.

         20                 As we know, homeowners are assessed

         21  at a lower rate in relation to fair market value.

         22                 About ten years ago, this inequity in

         23  the tax system was recognized and partially

         24  remedied. Each year co-ops receive a rebate of a

         25  portion of their real estate tax. This is a step in
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          2  the right direction but hardly a cure-all. The

          3  rebates don't come close to achieving an equitable

          4  amount of taxation.

          5                 A few years ago through the certiore

          6  proceedings we received a refund of approximately a

          7  million dollars because our assessments were too

          8  high.

          9                 We were going to receive another

         10  refund as soon as it's approved by the City, of

         11  about $300,000. This shouldn't have to be done. Our

         12  assessments should be appropriate right up front,

         13  without having to go through all the paperwork and

         14  bureaucratic procedure.

         15                 As assesses continue to rise each

         16  year, the situation is exacerbated. I urge you to

         17  finish what you started about ten years ago, and

         18  correct the method of assessing co-ops and condos.

         19                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  speak with you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Stolar.

         23                 Council Member Sears has a question.

         24  Mr. Stolar, could you just stay a couple of minutes?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right. When
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          2  you go through fighting the assessment and this tax

          3  thing, do you engage an attorney to do that?

          4                 MR. STOLAR: Yes, we do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, in other

          6  words, you also have to go through additional

          7  expenses in order to get to the point where you at

          8  least have some fairness.

          9                 MR. STOLAR: They charge about 18

         10  percent of the refund.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Which is

         12  amazing. Because either you have retired people, or

         13  you have people who are working. Either way, that

         14  physical necessity to get downtown and to have to go

         15  through hours and hours of doing this is really a

         16  very burdensome and costly thing.

         17                 MR. STOLAR: It would be nice to have

         18  the equity right up front.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Exactly. Thank

         20  you.

         21                 MR. STOLAR: We firmly support the

         22  resolution.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, the next

         25  witness is Mary Vavruska. Also from Jackson Heights.
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          2  And she's president of the Brulene Cooperative

          3  Apartments, Inc.

          4                 Proceed.

          5                 MS. VAVRUSKA: Good morning, Chairman

          6  Weprin, Council Member Sears and all Council members

          7  present.

          8                 I cannot thank you enough for having

          9  this hearing. But in addition, I thank all of you

         10  and your staff who have helped us in so many ways to

         11  cut our expenses or go through the bureaucratic red

         12  tape. All of those little things you do, help us in

         13  so many little ways. This would really be the big

         14  thing, but don't think we don't appreciate all those

         15  other smaller things that you're doing for us. We

         16  know you're there for us all the time.

         17                 I'm the President of Brulene

         18  Cooperative Apartments, Inc., at 3410 94th Street,

         19  and 3411 93rd Street, Jackson Heights, Queens. One

         20  block in from Junction Boulevard.

         21                 In this year of 2004, Brulene

         22  Cooperative is celebrating the 50th anniversary but

         23  sadly we are in the worst financial shape since the

         24  co-ops formation in 1954.

         25                 Even though we have paid off our
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          2  underlying mortgage, and have only a $90,000 loan

          3  outstanding for windows purchased in 2000, by the

          4  way we paid cash for the windows and got a loan at

          5  five percent.

          6                 We were the first multi-family

          7  building in New York State to get an NRG loan. We

          8  had the money out at six and we were paying the loan

          9  off at five because we figured we didn't have any

         10  money in our reserve, because we could never

         11  accumulate it. Right now that situation is changed.

         12  The money is at one and we're paying the interest

         13  off at five, but we just have to do it. It was the

         14  only way we could get a little something in the pie.

         15                 We are required to give another

         16  increase in maintenance in this year in order to

         17  balance our budget. We are a 96-unit co-op. That

         18  means like Nick Biasi does a wonderful job, but he

         19  has a bit of the economies of scale that we don't

         20  have, because he has 400 units, and, so, we really

         21  have to struggle.

         22                 What we are trying to do is provide

         23  for young families a safe, clean and affordable

         24  housing unit. We have attractive landscaping all

         25  provided by our residents. We don't hire a
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          2  landscaper. Otherwise we are a no frills co-op.

          3  These cooperative units are the first purchase for

          4  young families in a time when affordable housing is

          5  hard to find in New York City. Yet, our ability to

          6  provide affordable housing is being diminished by

          7  the increase in real estate taxes every year.

          8                 It is not just the tax rate, but the

          9  increase in assessment which provides us with a

         10  double-whammy.

         11                 These young, working class families

         12  will find it impossible to pay a mortgage and the

         13  increased carrying charge is resulting from higher

         14  and higher real estate taxes, and we're talking

         15  about two-parent working families.

         16                 I mean, the reason they come to our

         17  building is because they say we feel safe in your

         18  building, and there's a school close by so we can

         19  manage when the two of us are working.

         20                 The cost of providing new affordable

         21  housing units can be prohibitive, not to mention the

         22  decrease in available lots for such housing.

         23                 It is much more cost effective for

         24  New York City to enable well-maintained existing

         25  affordable housing units to thrive, but it is
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          2  difficult for a 50-year-old co-op such as Brulene,

          3  to build up a sufficient reserve to replace

          4  mechanical and other systems when they are beyond

          5  repair, because of the continuing burden of

          6  increased real estate taxes.

          7                 The present tax abatement given to

          8  cooperatives is only temporary, and it depends upon

          9  renewal legislation, which might not be enacted. It

         10  therefore inhibits a cooperative from planning for

         11  improvements when future taxes might sap the funds

         12  needed to pay for such improvements. We respectfully

         13  request that cooperative and condominium units be

         14  afforded the same treatment as class 1 properties

         15  for purposes of taxation.

         16                 This will assure a continuing

         17  availability of available housing stock.

         18                 Thank you very much for this

         19  opportunity.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I notice the

         21  theme of the testimony. It seems to all come

         22  together with the same summation, which I'm very

         23  cognizant of.

         24                 Do any of my colleagues have any

         25  questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

          3                 I don't have a question, but I think

          4  that what seems to be prevalent throughout, and I

          5  thank you for your testimony, is that the big issue

          6  in the City of New York is affordable housing, and

          7  somehow the cooperatives have been set aside as

          8  being in that category of affordable housing.

          9                 I would think, that question, I

         10  actually do have one, the people that live in your

         11  co-ops and all those who spoke before, what is the

         12  average length that they have been living there? To

         13  show when they bought them and what their thrust was

         14  --

         15                 MS. VAVRUSKA: The average length?

         16  Well, you actually have to divide it up among the

         17  seniors who unfortunately I think we had maybe one

         18  or two original stockholders.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, how long

         20  have they been there?

         21                 MS. VAVRUSKA: I think we have one or

         22  two original stockholders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, how long

         24  have they been there?

         25                 MS. VAVRUSKA: And then we have maybe
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          2  about 50 percent of those who were maybe over 60.

          3  What we have coming in are a lot of young, working

          4  families, and the reason for that is we've been able

          5  to keep the carrying charges down so that they can

          6  afford to pay a mortgage and the carrying charges,

          7  and still make it.

          8                 Young families come from a very, very

          9  diverse group of people. I would say we represent

         10  every continent from the antarctic in our co-op.

         11  That's a good way of putting it. And it's just

         12  basically going to be tougher and tougher for them

         13  to make it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         15  Thank you for being here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         17  by a number of my colleagues, in order that I saw

         18  them. Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan;

         19  Council Member Jim Oddo, our Minority Leader from

         20  Staten Island; and Council Member Mike McMahon also

         21  from Staten Island.

         22                 The next witness will be Raymond

         23  Margolis. And we've also been joined by Council

         24  Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

         25                 We're now going to switch over to the
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          2  Land Use items, since we're heard from all of the

          3  witnesses at this time on the co-op and condo bill,

          4  and as I mentioned before, we will be hearing from

          5  the budget director shortly. And the Independent

          6  Budget Office and the Citizens' Budget Commission.

          7  But we have to have a vote on the Land Use items,

          8  and I'm going to call upon David Pechefsky of the

          9  Finance staff to go into the witness chair to be

         10  available to answer any questions that the members

         11  may have on the various Land Use items.

         12                 MR. PECHEFSKY: Good morning. I'm

         13  David Pechefsky from City Council Finance.

         14                 As the Chair stated previously, there

         15  are three items before you up for tax exemptions.

         16  One is Allen Cathedral Senior Residence in Council

         17  Member Comrie's District. This is a 220-unit

         18  development for low-income seniors. There is also

         19  eight properties in the Bronx containing 242 units

         20  operated by the Banana Kelly Improvement

         21  Association. This is in Council Member Serrano's

         22  district. And the last item is a two-family home in

         23  Council Member Oddo's district, the Habitat for

         24  Humanity Program. And all of these are varieties of

         25  affordable housing developments that HPD has asked
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          2  the Council, requested that the Council grant tax

          3  exemptions for.

          4                 I'll be happy to take any questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've also been

          6  joined by our Majority Leader, Joel Rivera, from the

          7  Bronx, and Council Member Madeline Provenzano also

          8  of the Bronx.

          9                 We have, as David mentioned, the

         10  project in Council Member Comrie's district, and we

         11  also have a project in Council Member Serrano's and

         12  Oddo's district.

         13                 Since Council Member Oddo is here,

         14  would he like to make a statement?

         15                 Are you in support of the project?

         16                 Okay, we're going to vote on the

         17  Staten Island project, because I understand Council

         18  Member Comrie wanted to make a statement on his

         19  project and I think he's on his way up.

         20                 So, let's just call the roll, we'll

         21  do it on the Staten Island Project first. That's the

         22  Habitat for Humanity Project.

         23                 So, does anyone want to call the

         24  roll?

         25                 Okay, a vote on the Habitat for
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          2  Humanity Project, please.

          3                 Call the roll.

          4                 MR. CARAS: Weprin.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye.

          6                 MR. CARAS: Boyland.

          7                 (No response.)

          8                 MR. CARAS: Lopez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Aye.

         10                 MR. CARAS: Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

         12                 MR. CARAS: Nelson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye.

         14                 MR. CARAS: Quinn.

         15                 (No response.)

         16                 MR. CARAS: Rivera.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye.

         18                 MR. CARAS: Brewer.

         19                 (No response.)

         20                 MR. CARAS: DeBlasio.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

         22                 MR. CARAS: Felder.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Pass.

         24                 MR. CARAS: Fidler.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.
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          2                 MR. CARAS: Gennaro.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          4                 MR. CARAS: Gioia.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Aye.

          6                 MR. CARAS: McMahon.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye.

          8                 MR. CARAS: Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         11  by Council Member Gallagher.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Pass.

         13                 MR. CARAS: Oddo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         15                 MR. CARAS: Felder.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Pass.

         17                 MR. CARAS: Gallagher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

         19                 MR. CARAS: Councilman Felder.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         21                 MR. CARAS: By a vote of 16 in the

         22  affirmative, zero in the negative, the item is

         23  adopted.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's just on

         25  the Habitat for Humanity Project. We've been joined
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          2  by Council Member Comrie, who has a project in his

          3  district. And we just want to hear from him before

          4  we take a vote on that project.

          5                 Council Member Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 This is a project that has been

          9  approved by the community board overwhelmingly. It's

         10  a senior project with retail stores done by, I

         11  forget what's the subsidiary of Allen AME, but it's

         12  an excellent project. I look forward to its addition

         13  to my district.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, and you're

         15  totally in support of it?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: 150 percent.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we're going

         18  to now couple the other two items, because I can't

         19  handle individual passes anymore, but we're going to

         20  couple them together and we'll call the roll on the

         21  other two items, one in Council Member Comrie's

         22  district and the one in Councilman Serrano's

         23  district.

         24                 MR. CARAS: Weprin.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye.
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          2                 MR. CARAS: Lopez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Aye.

          4                 MR. CARAS: Provenzano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

          6                 MR. CARAS: Nelson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Pass.

          8                 MR. CARAS: Quinn.

          9                 (No response.)

         10                 MR. CARAS: Rivera.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Pass.

         12                 MR. CARAS: Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I can't wait for

         15  the budget.

         16                 MR. CARAS: Comrie.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I vote aye. I

         18  would also like to register my vote in the

         19  affirmative for the previous items.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So ordered.

         21                 MR. CARAS: DeBlasio.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

         23                 MR. CARAS: Fidler.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

         25                 MR. CARAS: Gennaro.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          3                 MR. CARAS: Gioia.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Aye.

          5                 MR. CARAS: McMahon.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye.

          7                 MR. CARAS: Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          9                 MR. CARAS: Gallagher.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Pass.

         11                 MR. CARAS: Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Pass.

         13                 MR. CARAS: Felder.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Pass.

         15                 MR. CARAS: Gallagher.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Pass.

         18                 MR. CARAS: Rivera.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye.

         20                 MR. CARAS: Oddo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         22                 MR. CARAS: By a vote of 14 in the

         23  affirmative, zero in the negative -- did I miss you?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes.

         25                 MR. CARAS: I wonder how that
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          2  happened.

          3                 Felder.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to ask

          5  the Chair to please investigate what just happened.

          6  And can I be excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay. For my

          9  colleagues, I just want to reiterate that although I

         10  like the attention, the reason that I continue to

         11  pass on the votes in the Committee is that presently

         12  our republican colleagues are called to the vote,

         13  not in alphabetical order, which means everybody

         14  else is called and then the republican members are

         15  called, which I think is ridiculous.

         16                 I think they should be called to vote

         17  in alphabetical order like everybody else. And until

         18  we do something to change that, I will enjoy playing

         19  this game of pass pass pass. And I want to thank my

         20  colleague Michael Nelson and Joel Rivera for joining

         21  the group in trying to make an issue of this and

         22  getting this changed.

         23                 I vote yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm glad you

         25  clarified that, Council Member Felder. I'm not sure
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          2  that the other colleagues knew that they were

          3  running in that protest.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You can ask

          5  them to explain their vote, if you want.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, is anybody

          7  else outstanding?

          8                 Can we announce the results?

          9                 MR. CARAS: By a vote of 15 in the

         10  affirmative, zero in the negative, the two Land Use

         11  items are adopted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, Council

         13  Member Lopez.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just wanted

         15  to make a clarification for the purpose of who is

         16  listening and looking at this. We are not taking

         17  comedy central here today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

         19  I believe is going to be the Budget Director Mark

         20  Page, who is going to be here any minute. He's in

         21  the building. So, could you just hold on, and we'll

         22  hear from the Budget Director momentarily.

         23                 Please sign the tally sheets, and

         24  I'll keep the roll open for those members that still

         25  want to vote.
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          2                 We'll now hear from Mark Page, the

          3  Director of the Office of Management and Budget.

          4                 Mr. Page, do you have a prepared

          5  statement?

          6                 MR. PAGE: I have a prepared

          7  statement, which I guess I'd like to submit, but I

          8  think I might spare you my reading it in terms of

          9  five pages of --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've heard more

         11  from you than that. You have copies?

         12                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right, why

         14  don't you pass up the copies.

         15                 MR. PAGE: I would actually like to

         16  testify, however, for a few minutes on your

         17  resolution, and then do my best to answer your

         18  questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's perfectly

         20  fine.

         21                 MR. PAGE: So, do I need to identify

         22  myself for the record?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you do.

         24                 MR. PAGE: Okay. So, I'm Mark Page.

         25  I'm the Director of Management and Budget, New York
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          2  City.

          3                 Good morning, Chairman Weprin, and

          4  members of the Finance Committee. Thank you for the

          5  opportunity this morning to testify on Council

          6  Resolution 74.

          7                 Obviously, the Resolution concerns

          8  itself with the structure that New York City has for

          9  the levy of its property tax.

         10                 That levy and how revenue is

         11  collected from different kinds of property in the

         12  City, is something that's obviously evolved over a

         13  long period of time.

         14                 The most, sort of specific

         15  legislative structure effecting how collections are

         16  done, was S.7000, which was a piece of state

         17  legislation enacted over 20 years ago, which

         18  basically defined the four classes of real property

         19  in New York City and set at that time the shares of

         20  the total property tax levy that each of the classes

         21  were responsible for. As a result of basically

         22  decisions by New York's elected government that went

         23  on long before S.7000. The properties that ended up

         24  in class 1, basically one-, two- and three-family

         25  homes, have had a history of assessment for tax
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          2  purposes which has given them probably generally a

          3  somewhat lower as a class property tax liability as

          4  a function of market value than is true of other

          5  properties. That was true before S.7000. It was

          6  built into S.7000. The flexibility which that act

          7  gave to the New York City City Council in its annual

          8  levy of property tax has been by and large utilized

          9  to continue that structure.

         10                 I think that the continuity and

         11  predictability of tax structure is something that is

         12  actually extremely important to us. The market value

         13  of properties of all kinds in New York City is very

         14  much affected by the structure of the property tax

         15  levy in the City so that I think that there is a

         16  considerable amount of balance in terms of the

         17  overall cost of any particular property reflected in

         18  its market value that relates to the property tax

         19  structure.

         20                 I think it's worth noting that the

         21  abatement of tax liability for class 2 that is under

         22  consideration at the moment, is something actually

         23  that's been in place in the City's tax structure

         24  since 1996. It is a long-term part of what the

         25  various kinds of property owners in the City are
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          2  used to, that the real property market of various

          3  kinds of property reflects.  This Administration

          4  supports continuance of that abatement. Our

          5  financial plan reflects the continuance of that

          6  abatement in terms of our revenue forecasts.

          7                 And with that, I'd do my best to

          8  answer questions, if you have them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you,

         10  Mr. Page.

         11                 We understand that your

         12  administration included in the Department of Finance

         13  has -- or the Bloomberg Administration, has

         14  conducted some studies on the property tax inequity

         15  between class 1 homes and class 2 co-ops and condos.

         16                 How inequitable is the tax burden now

         17  compared to 1996 when the co-op and condo abatement

         18  legislation was passed?

         19                 And do you have updated estimates on

         20  the cost of achieving tax equity, if we were, for

         21  example, to bring all of co-ops and condos into

         22  class 1, in particular?

         23                 MR. PAGE: I have not said that I

         24  think the current tax structure is inequitable. I've

         25  actually said that --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, other

          3  people have testified before you came in they felt

          4  there was.

          5                 MR. PAGE: Well, I don't believe that

          6  that's particularly true in the broader context of

          7  the valuation of the various kinds of real property

          8  in New York City, and I don't have the answers to

          9  your questions in terms of numbers.

         10                 You know, you would have to tell me

         11  what it is you want calculated, and then we can talk

         12  about how to get there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you can do the

         14  calculation, it doesn't have to be now, but get back

         15  to me in the Committee, as to what your estimated

         16  costs would be to include all co-ops and condos that

         17  are not currently part of class 1 property to become

         18  class 1.

         19                 MR. PAGE: I think I would need to

         20  have somebody I could discuss what that meant with,

         21  in terms of its details.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm sorry?

         23                 MR. PAGE: I would need somebody with

         24  whom I could discuss exactly what that meant, in

         25  terms of details.
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          2                 I don't think it's as straightforward

          3  a question as you're making it?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Well, the

          5  Finance staff will be glad to sit down with you and

          6  your staff at any time to go over that.

          7                 Could we set that up then relatively

          8  quickly?

          9                 MR. PAGE: Fine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, just a

         11  couple of more questions then I'll turn it over to

         12  my colleagues.

         13                 The assembly bill introduced last

         14  month, which extends co-op and condo abatements for

         15  another four years, also requires the Administration

         16  to submit recommendations to address the -- I'll

         17  still refer to it as inequitable tax burden,

         18  although I realize you're not acknowledging that

         19  fact, between home owners and co-op and condo owners

         20  by July 1st, 2005.

         21                 Do you think that this is an

         22  achievable deadline, given the complicated nature of

         23  the current property tax system?

         24                 MR. PAGE: Well, if that mandate is

         25  enacted in state law, I expect that certainly some
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          2  analysis could be done in that time frame, whether

          3  you come up with a perfect final answer on this

          4  subject, I would think it would sort of remain to be

          5  seen. I mean, we are looking at a practice of a

          6  developed tax structure in New York City which has

          7  been put together along the lines we are familiar

          8  with over many decades, as a practical matter, and

          9  it has been continued in this form repeatedly year

         10  after year, recently as well as back over decades,

         11  and I think looking into the underlying reasons for

         12  that, and what it means in terms of property values

         13  and ownership and investment in certain kinds of

         14  property in areas of New York City is a major

         15  enterprise.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, if it was

         17  passed and mandated, it is achievable by July 1st?

         18                 MR. PAGE: Well, something is

         19  achievable by July 1st, but I don't think the

         20  ultimate answer is probably achievable by July 1st.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But we're talking

         22  July 1st, 2005.

         23                 MR. PAGE: I understand.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Not 2004.

         25                 Okay, well, I assume that if it's
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          2  passed and mandated by State law, I'm sure you'll

          3  comply and come up with something by July 1st, 2005.

          4                 In order to show the tax burden is

          5  borne by properties of comparable value, market

          6  values of class 2 co-ops and condos, need to be

          7  based on comparable sales prices. But I understand

          8  that developing accurate models of sales prices for

          9  class 2 properties, must be done carefully and is a

         10  time-consuming process.

         11                 The Department of Finance plans to

         12  study sales pricing as one possible method of

         13  valuing co-ops and condos, as they state in their

         14  state in their final task force report issued this

         15  past January.

         16                 What are your views on that

         17  particular methodology?

         18                 MR. PAGE: Well, I guess it's one

         19  methodology.

         20                 I think that one problem you have in

         21  terms of valuing real property, and using that in

         22  your analysis of the property tax structure, is that

         23  you're going around in a circle, because the value

         24  of the real property has a lot to do with the

         25  property tax structure as it exists. So that one
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          2  doesn't hold still when you move the other as a

          3  practical matter.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Our staff will be

          5  contacting you and your staff, and we can kind of go

          6  into this at a later date.

          7                 I'm now going to turn it over to my

          8  colleagues. Before we get to that, I'm just going to

          9  allow Council Member Christine Quinn to vote on the

         10  two Land Use items that you did not vote on yet.

         11                 Council Member Quinn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I vote aye.

         13  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And Council

         15  Member Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         18  Brewer votes aye.

         19                 Any of my colleagues have questions?

         20                 Council Member Provenzano.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: In reading

         22  this, that gives the reso in the title, I have

         23  objection to wording in this title. My district is

         24  probably three-quarters residential, and this reads

         25  bla-bla-bla-bla..."the disparate treatment under the
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          2  State Real Property Tax Law between residences which

          3  are one-, two- and three-family homes, and therefore

          4  given the preferential property tax treatment." I

          5  have a problem with "preferential" in that title.

          6  For what it's worth, I don't know if anyone else

          7  agrees with me, but I think it's offensive to the

          8  one-, two- and three-family home-owners, and I think

          9  that those folks who have a good amount of one-,

         10  two- and three-family houses in their district

         11  should think about that wording.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, you can

         13  discuss it with the Chair. If she'd like to amend

         14  that title, we have no problem with it.

         15                 Why don't you get together with the

         16  Chair after the -- with the sponsor, Council Member

         17  Sears, after the meeting and you can assess that

         18  amendment.

         19                 Council Member Sears.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Page.

         22                 Just one question. For the Albany and

         23  having to vote to pass again and again on this

         24  abatement, has there been any consideration from the

         25  Administration to ask Albany to change the formula
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          2  for that abatement, and to increase it, since we

          3  have to go back every year to do that?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I think that our position

          5  at the moment is basically to continue the formula

          6  as we've had it. I think that we believe that the

          7  stability that that provides, and, in fact the

          8  benefit to a number of co-op and condo owners, in

          9  terms of their annual property tax liability is a

         10  good idea.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: If I can just

         12  make a comment, for your consideration. I think

         13  there has been a myth that has been established over

         14  the years about just exactly what are the co-ops and

         15  condos, and that you have to have some degree of

         16  affluency in order to purchase a condo or a co-op.

         17  That is simply not true.

         18                 Most of these co-ops are in other

         19  boroughs, as well as Manhattan, and they provide the

         20  nucleus of what has been affordable housing, and

         21  people have taken sometimes their last few dollars

         22  and savings to put the downpayment and to meet the

         23  maintenance of those co-ops, as well as whatever

         24  mortgages they have had to take on them. And those

         25  co-ops, and there are most of them like that, these
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          2  are middle class people who did not have a residue

          3  of bank balances in order to do this. So, I think

          4  one of the things that the Administration might very

          5  well address when they do speak to Albany, is to put

          6  in reality exactly what the co-ops and condos are,

          7  who buys them, who has been living in them, and what

          8  it means to them to maintain and contribute to the

          9  stability of housing in the City of New York, that

         10  is a major, major issue.

         11                 We can't have one hearing in this

         12  Council without the word affordable housing coming

         13  before us, and it just seems that there is quite a

         14  -- there is not a resignation of exactly where the

         15  co-ops and condos fit into the category of

         16  affordable housing. And they have done more, and

         17  have done more at stake, in order to contribute to

         18  the stability of housing in the City of New York.

         19  And I really think the administration in their

         20  negotiations with Albany have to reconsider, because

         21  there is an inequity, and it is recognized by many,

         22  many, and that inequity needs to be addressed.

         23                 We are well aware of those

         24  abatements. They expire at the end of the year, they

         25  are not sufficient, and ten years ago, the former
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          2  administration and the State were to look and

          3  readdress the inequities of this. We are ten years

          4  hence and it has not happened. I think the City can

          5  do more. Thank you.

          6                 MR. PAGE: I think that I hear the

          7  point, I believe that we are very much aware of the

          8  range of kinds of housing and ownership that exists

          9  in the co-op and condo configuration in New York

         10  City. I think I've made myself clear on the question

         11  of equitableness as a term in this context, and that

         12  I believe we need to look at the picture, including

         13  the cost of the market value of housing and the cost

         14  of actually purchasing a place to live in

         15  considering the overall context.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you.

         17  Council Member McMahon.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. And I want to echo the remarks of

         20  Council Member Provenzano. And I know that Council

         21  Member Sears will look at perhaps the language of

         22  this resolution, and here is why.

         23                 As someone who represents primarily

         24  the traditional one-, two- or three-family house

         25  owners, but also represents some condo and co-op
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          2  owners, I think it really hurts our efforts to put

          3  one class against the other class because if the

          4  class 2 is overtaxed, we have to find a way to

          5  address that problem without hurting another class.

          6  And it's silly to get into this tax class --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Class warfare.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Class

          9  warfare, if you will, because then we'll never

         10  address the problem correctly, and certainly as a

         11  home-owner I want my taxes to go down. I don't want

         12  them to go up.

         13                 Having said that, Mr. Page, at the

         14  end of your discussion you touched on the fact that

         15  when you talk about real property taxes, every

         16  action sort of has a reaction, or you don't act in

         17  one area without effecting another area.

         18                 Can you explain that a little bit

         19  more, if you would, and then also the second part of

         20  my question would be; does the abatement problem,

         21  abatement scenario, if that passes, get us out of

         22  that problem, because we are helping one class

         23  without hurting homeowners. Everybody is a

         24  home-owner, traditional class 1 properties.

         25                 MR. PAGE: I think that to take your
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          2  questions in reverse, we believe that the abatement

          3  is a good idea. It benefits a number of co-op and

          4  condo home-owners. It is a part of the tax structure

          5  that's been in place now for approaching a decade as

          6  a practical matter, and we think that a considerable

          7  factor, in terms of thinking about equity in this

          8  structure, is avoiding sudden and unexpected change

          9  in terms of how property tax liability is imposed on

         10  property owners, because of what that is likely to

         11  do to the value of the property that they own. I

         12  mean, it's very simplistically, people often look at

         13  a property purchase in terms of what they think they

         14  can afford in a monthly payment, and part of that

         15  you pay to the bank if you're sort of a normal

         16  person and have a mortgage, and then you pay the

         17  bank some more to cover your property tax. And it's

         18  the combination of those two factors that has a lot

         19  to do with the affordability of a given unit. I

         20  mean, it tends to be that if the tax number goes

         21  down suddenly, that that home-owner probably as an

         22  unexpected benefit in terms of the value of his

         23  property, and he could sell it to somebody else who

         24  for the same monthly payment could afford to pay him

         25  a considerable increment on the value of property.
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          2                 I mean, the other way, if you have a

          3  sudden jump in the property tax liability of a

          4  particular kind of property, because of amending the

          5  structure that enables you to collect this revenue,

          6  I mean the reverse happens. And we think that that

          7  kind of abrupt change is something to be -- you

          8  know, you basically need to really think about what

          9  you're doing and how not to put people in a sort of

         10  sudden squeeze that they've had no way to plan for

         11  and is going to be difficult for them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we've been

         13  joined by Council Member Boyland, who I believe

         14  would like to vote on the Land Use items that we

         15  previously voted on.

         16                 Council Member Boyland, how do you

         17  vote on the three Land Use items.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I vote aye on

         19  all.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all for

         21  Boyland.

         22                 Council Member Nelson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         24                 Mr. Page, I believe I heard you say

         25  that you did not think it was inequitable, the
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          2  formulas, or are you just basing that upon the state

          3  having to do the heavy lifting?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I've been trying not to use

          5  the term inequitable in terms of the -- or not

          6  equitable, in terms of how the existing property tax

          7  structure collects revenue from property owners in

          8  New York City. I think, as I said, I think that the

          9  issue of value goes much broader than simply the

         10  annual property tax payment.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: To clarify

         12  that, I wasn't challenging the statement in essence,

         13  but I was wondering if you could offer a specific,

         14  or based upon your knowledge, of the differences in

         15  the home ownership?

         16                 MR. PAGE: Well, I mean the sort of

         17  standard hearsay is that if you want to buy a fancy

         18  house in Douglaston, and you go a hundred yards

         19  into, what is it Manhasset, I guess that's next to

         20  it, Nassau County, whatever it is, given the two

         21  different tax structures, the value of virtually the

         22  same house in Nassau County is substantially lower

         23  than it is in Douglaston, I mean it's a number on a

         24  piece of paper, it's an amount of cash you have to

         25  come up with, but it has to do with the fact that
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          2  for a given monthly payment, in Douglaston because

          3  of the way New York City's property tax levy works,

          4  they're going to be paying less monthly payment for

          5  property tax, which means you can afford to pay more

          6  monthly payment for mortgage.

          7                 Nassau County, because it relies so

          8  very much more heavily than New York City on

          9  property tax revenue, as opposed to a range of tax

         10  revenues that we levy, the reverse is true. You get

         11  socked with a very high monthly payment for taxes,

         12  so given this particular box you can afford less for

         13  purchase price.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just New York

         15  City specific, though, if there would be say a

         16  difference between one and two, or one and

         17  three-family homes and co-op or condos, if there

         18  would be any issue that would make it perhaps not so

         19  inequitable.

         20                 MR. PAGE: I don't know that I can be

         21  clearer than I've been on this issue. Which you may

         22  find discouraging.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: All right.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do any of my

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  colleagues have any further questions for Mr. Page?

          3                 Other than that, we look forward to

          4  hearing from you during the preliminary budget

          5  hearing coming up. Then we'll have more questions

          6  for you, I guarantee you.

          7                 MR. PAGE: Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

          9  is James McManus, from the Queens Borough Houses

         10  Association.

         11                 Mr. McManus? Do you have a prepared

         12  statement, Mr. McManus?

         13                 MR. McMANUS: Yes, I do. It's being

         14  circulated.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, proceed.

         16                 MR. McMANUS: Good morning, members of

         17  the City Finance Committee. I have a brief statement

         18  from the Queensboro Houses Association that I would

         19  like to read concerning the property tax system.

         20                 The Queensboro Houses Association

         21  consists of approximately a group of 80 original

         22  cooperative buildings, built in the early 1920s and

         23  located in Jackson Heights, Queens. Most, if not all

         24  of our buildings, contain 20 or fewer units, with

         25  many of the owners being long-term senior residents,
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          2  many of whom are on fixed income.

          3                 We are here to show our support for

          4  change in the current state real property tax law,

          5  between class 1 and class 2 residences, as it

          6  relates to cooperatives.

          7                 It is our contention that the current

          8  law penalizes owners of co-ops, whose income unlike

          9  that of apartment building owners and like class 1

         10  residences is strictly for maintenance of the

         11  property, with no profit whatsoever. We are private

         12  homes that are above and next to one another, and we

         13  believe that we are being unfairly over-assessed and

         14  over-taxed.

         15                 While we certainly appreciate the

         16  adoption of Section 467 of the real property tax

         17  law, allowing owners of co-ops to receive a partial

         18  property tax abatement, it is only a partial

         19  solution. We therefore respectfully urge the

         20  Committee to seriously consider doing whatever is

         21  necessary to assure greater property tax equity for

         22  co-ops.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         25                 We've been joined by Council Member
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          2  Bill Perkins, who I believe would like to vote vote

          3  on the previously considered Land Use item.

          4                 Council Member Perkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          6  very much. I want to vote aye on all.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So recorded.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 Your next witness is Janet O'Hare,

         10  from Jackson Heights.

         11                 MS. O'HARE: Good morning, Mr. Chair,

         12  members of the Committee. I'm speaking for a small

         13  co-op in Jackson Heights. It's part of the Linden

         14  Court Complex, which is our ten small cooperative

         15  buildings, built in 1920, and the first garden

         16  apartment co-ops built in Jackson Heights.

         17                 The imposition of the 18 and a half

         18  percent real estate has reached havoc with the

         19  finances of the small 12-unit co-op. You will recall

         20  that the Finance Department may make an

         21  "adjustment," making the increase actually 25

         22  percent.

         23                 In addition, the water tax was

         24  increased as well as sales tax.

         25                 To pay for these increases, we have
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          2  had to increase our own maintenance by 25 percent,

          3  and in the course of the year we've had to impose

          4  three assessments. Our residents are working people

          5  who have had a great deal of difficulty paying for

          6  these increased taxes.

          7                 Tax rates for cooperatives have

          8  historically been higher than the rates for

          9  single-family homes. The Council committed itself to

         10  equalizing tax rates some ten years ago, the result

         11  has only been temporary relief program.

         12                 You must now do three things:

         13  Immediately repeal last year's tax increase, extend

         14  the abatement program, and set our tax rates

         15  comparable to those of single-family homes. All of

         16  these actions must be taken before the new tax year.

         17                 If relief is not forthcoming, this

         18  Council will witness the demise of once affordable

         19  cooperative housing units. Maintenance will be

         20  deferred, buildings will fall into disrepair, and

         21  entire neighborhoods will become slums. Is this the

         22  legacy this Council wishes to leave? Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         24  O'Hare.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I want to thank
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          2  you for being here and for everyone and I think

          3  you've made the point, which is the purpose of this

          4  hearing. It's not to pivot one class against

          5  another. I think I stated that at the very

          6  beginning, being very cognizant of the

          7  classifications. It is to actually, for people to be

          8  treated fairly in all aspects of the City and in

          9  taxation, and that's the objective, and I think you

         10  have all worked to help get that point across. So,

         11  thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is David Ferguson

         13  here?

         14                 Mr. Ferguson, you're next.

         15                 And he's with the HDFC Council, and

         16  I'm sure you'll explain what that is.

         17                 MR. FERGUSON: Yes. The HDFC Council

         18  represents about 1,200 tenant-sponsored limited

         19  equity co-ops throughout the City that mainly came

         20  about during the seventies with the in rem stock

         21  that the City, was inherited from the landlords

         22  leaving their buildings because they were no longer

         23  financially helpful to them. So, they didn't pay

         24  their taxes and the City inherited them. And, so,

         25  the programs evolved to deal with this housing
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          2  stock. It was costing the City I believe something

          3  like $3,500 a month to -- a year, rather, to operate

          4  these buildings out of taxpayers' funds and they

          5  weren't getting any taxes or any water and sewer

          6  charges, so they were a real -- and the communities,

          7  since many of these houses hadn't been kept up, they

          8  were run down, their services, the electrical,

          9  boilers, et cetera, everything was in disarray, so

         10  the neighborhoods were going down the tubes. So they

         11  came up with the, HDFC stands for Housing

         12  Development Fund Corporation. It's the way these

         13  tenant-sponsored co-ops are organized at the state

         14  level. There are a variety of different kinds of

         15  HDFCs. Mainly now they're what they called DAMP. The

         16  TIL process, which is the Tenant Interim Lease

         17  program, identifies where there can be organized,

         18  and then find leadership, and then through a program

         19  that you have, the Urban Homestead Assistance Board,

         20  leaders are trained to manage a building, and

         21  they're apartments are sold to them at about $250 an

         22  apartment, and there are many restrictions, and they

         23  have to keep affordable housing, and have no

         24  commercial potentials in that regard.

         25                 But I live in a different HDFC, that
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          2  was formed in 1974. A small tenant-sponsored co-op

          3  in Chelsea. And we came through the municipal loan

          4  program, all the City did was loan us their loaning

          5  power at eight and a half percent, and the history

          6  since 1974 of what we've been through, what got me

          7  to become involved with the HDFC Council to help

          8  found it in 1974, and 1994. And I have a proposed

          9  statement. I have taken a bit of time to explain

         10  that first, but my name is --

         11                 Also, I want to thank you, first of

         12  all, Chairman, for holding this hearing. I think

         13  it's really important, and especially for

         14  Councilwoman Sears for also working to get this

         15  issue, very important issue discussed.

         16                 I would just say I mean that, you

         17  know, the class war thing, as I understand it, and

         18  I'm not a real expert on all this stuff, but this

         19  happened a long time ago where the ground rules,

         20  government is nothing but ground rules, and you sent

         21  ground rules as to how you play the game, and those

         22  ground rules were changed, that has created this a

         23  long time ago. The disparity was built in, it isn't

         24  something that just happened, that just naturally

         25  happened like that waterfall or something, it was
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          2  really designed. And as the taxes went up, the

          3  disparity got greater. And I will also say, as a

          4  home-owner, that's what I am, that when you can own

          5  a one-, to three-family house and rent two of the

          6  apartments, you're getting a really lot of benefit,

          7  we're really getting clobbered in the City, that's

          8  my personal and professional experience, of describe

          9  what we are and so forth. And our group, just to

         10  mention, our group actually started at UHAB, which

         11  is the Urban Homestead Assistance Board, which works

         12  with all the co-ops and teaches them.

         13                 At a tax justice meeting in 1993, and

         14  we had about 80 people from all over the City, in

         15  Brooklyn and everywhere, where there are people who

         16  are operating these HDFCs, and those of us that

         17  operate these are volunteers, and we have turned

         18  communities around, and what happens ironically is

         19  when the community is turned around, the values go

         20  up, the taxes go up, and we can no longer afford to

         21  live where we were to make the place what it is.

         22                 I personally spent nine months of my

         23  life, as a co-vice chairman of Chelsea Against the

         24  Stillport, fighting an airport they wanted to build

         25  at the foot of our Steed (phonetic) and 22nd Street,
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          2  on ten Liberty ships for short takeoff and landing

          3  planes, one a minute. We wouldn't have that

          4  waterfront now if the community and the contribution

          5  I was able to make because my rent was low, to the

          6  community, that wouldn't have happened.

          7                 The freedom we have to get ourselves

          8  involved in community efforts, to turn communities

          9  around and make them function properly, is a direct

         10  result of how much we have to pay in rent, or

         11  maintenance or whatever.

         12                 The experience of our own co-op

         13  illustrate some of the glaring inequities of the

         14  current tax structure. Of the 1,200 buildings our

         15  HDFC Council represents, some 110 are non-DAMP,

         16  which we are, buildings mostly municipal loans -- of

         17  municipal loans.

         18                 The City stepped in when banks

         19  refused to provide a mortgage loan due to our

         20  low-income. In doing so, the City saved our building

         21  from demolition and prevented it from becoming part

         22  of what remained a vacant lot for 20 years. But the

         23  terms of that loan, required us to pay taxes at

         24  market rate, while at the same time HPD kept us from

         25  raising the rent of our one rent-controlled tenant
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          2  who paid $182 a month for 28 years, contributing

          3  four percent of expenses while occupying 12 percent

          4  of the building.

          5                 Meanwhile our tax bill went from

          6  $1,200 in 1975 to $16,000 and climbing. Current

          7  rents in Chelsea are many times what we could

          8  afford. HPD's own 1984 study by Rona Lawson, owners

          9  of Last Resort and assessment of the track record of

         10  New York City's early low-income housing cooperative

         11  conversions, and sent to us by HPD, recommends, "in

         12  neighborhoods undergoing gentrification and

         13  consequently rapid acceleration of property values,

         14  the City should make provision to shear low-income

         15  co-ops from the impact of large tax reassessments

         16  that would undermined their financial viability.

         17                 Another inequity resulted from the

         18  City's disregard of the State's equal treatment law,

         19  Section 561 of the Real Property Tax Law, which

         20  mandates equal assessment, treatment of co-ops and

         21  rental properties. This involves the two to ten

         22  unit. Ten-unit rentals were getting a cap of eight

         23  percent, I believe it was, over five years, not more

         24  than 30 percent over five years, and whereas co-ops

         25  got none of that, and we happen to be a low-income
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          2  co-op and we got none, so our taxes were going

          3  through the roof.

          4                 Our HDFC, I was sitting in the

          5  Executive Committee of the Two to Ten Unit

          6  Association, with a Supreme Court judge, and

          7  somebody from the Rent Stabilization Association.

          8                 They lived in co-ops that were

          9  hurting. If they were hurting, you knew we were

         10  hurting. And what we did together is we got

         11  legislation to enforce an already-existing law

         12  through the State Legislature.

         13                 However, much damage had already been

         14  done. Although the rate was calculated

         15  retroactively, taxes paid under the erroneous rate,

         16  14,000 in our case, we're not retroactively

         17  refunded.

         18                 But the most egregious underlying

         19  inequity in all co-op and condo taxes, including our

         20  HDFC, pay at a double rate -- pay at double the rate

         21  of single-family homes.

         22                 Furthermore, the assessed value of

         23  cooperative apartments is computed on the basis of

         24  neighborhood market rate rents, which are becoming

         25  increasingly inflated by profit margin, market rate
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          2  rentals demand.

          3                 Co-ops are essentially non-profit.

          4  People scrape together enough to by a cooperative

          5  apartment, with the expectation that that investment

          6  will provide them with a maintenance proportionately

          7  lower than the going rentals. Owner occupied

          8  cooperative apartments are being taxed on a rental

          9  profit that cooperative home-owners invested to

         10  eliminate. While it is reasonable to assess owner

         11  occupied cooperative apartments on increases in

         12  their underlying resale value, as is customary with

         13  single-family homes, it is grossly inappropriate to

         14  assess them on a profit potential of a rental

         15  property.

         16                 We are very appreciative of the tax

         17  abatement that has during the past several years

         18  begun to address this glaring disparity, and we

         19  strongly endorse continuance of that abatement.

         20                 We also applaud the Department of

         21  Finance for its prompt and fair response to the HDFC

         22  Council's request that non-DAMP HDFCs be included in

         23  the abatement program.

         24                 The inclusion was worked out at a

         25  meeting with DOF, City Council Member Stanley
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          2  Michels, HDFC Council President George Reyes

          3  Montanblanc and Ann Henderson of UHAB. Without

          4  abatement that at least deals with a part of these

          5  tax inequities, our own building would not be in the

          6  position now to avoid the foreclosure proceeding HPD

          7  is currently bringing against our co-op.

          8                 In other words, these things have

          9  real consequences for people that have struggled for

         10  30 years to save their homes.

         11                 While HDFCs may be the canaries in

         12  the mine, all co-op owners pay at a rate that

         13  undermines affordable housing, even for teachers.

         14                 Middle income families find it

         15  increasingly difficult to live in the City.

         16                 Of the seven residents of our HDFC,

         17  over 30 years five have been City employees,

         18  including our tenant. Of those, four entered

         19  retirement. Current real estate tax policies also

         20  work against community continuity and diversity and

         21  increase the potential for homelessness.

         22                 Cooperative apartments may be a

         23  commodity to some, but for us they are our homes.

         24  The long-term social and economic health of our City

         25  requires that a way be found to establish a fair and
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          2  equitable real estate tax policy.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 MR. O'HARE: You're welcome.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you

          7  very much. And I think that your final statement

          8  basically says what this hearing is about, is to

          9  reach a very fair and reasonable solution.

         10                 MR. O'HARE: I appreciate your

         11  concern. And that is the operative word. We're not

         12  looking to hurt anyone else, and we don't see it as

         13  a competitive situation. We just want what's fair.

         14                 What's fair is what's workable for

         15  the health of the City, for the economic and social

         16  well-being of the community.

         17                 Because otherwise, as was testified,

         18  you're going to have communities again going down

         19  the tube. You can't have it both ways.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, I

         21  think I heard testimony that some are in really bad

         22  financial straits.

         23                 MR. O'HARE: Absolutely. And my heart

         24  went out to them when I heard that. Because I know

         25  exactly what that feels like.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: It

          3  certainly behooves the City to have to look at this,

          4  and Albany, very seriously, because you're right, we

          5  will inherit.

          6                 You made a point, which I'd like to

          7  address to those who are here. When the City

          8  inherited those abandoned buildings, absolutely it

          9  was the people who were living in the communities

         10  and made a commitment to those communities that took

         11  whatever they had and reinvested so that those

         12  buildings could be tenant-owned, and the City was

         13  relieved of the unpleasant, ugly, burdensome housing

         14  that they didn't know what to do with it. And

         15  Jackson Heights, I think throughout the City of New

         16  York, we see that housing, which has been taken over

         17  by people in the community, so that the community

         18  would not go down. Now they are in the straits that

         19  everybody is talking about, and we cannot let that

         20  deja vu come back where the City was, and that it

         21  was the residents who had to take over that problem.

         22                 MR. O'HARE: That's right. It will

         23  create a vicious circle. And also the irony being

         24  that the people that struggle, and I was block

         25  Chairman, that's how I got involved in community
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          2  work, I worked on the PS 11 Playground Committee,

          3  they had no playground for 50 years, you know, we

          4  make a commitment to our communities in HDFC's. The

          5  head of our group, George Reyes Montablanc, has done

          6  wonderful stuff in Hamilton Heights, and the place

          7  is turning around. And then the real estate values

          8  go up and the very people that did all of this work

          9  can't afford to live in the place they made an asset

         10  to the City.

         11                 So, this is not only it's not fair,

         12  which is essential, it is not a workable way to fund

         13  the operations of the City, because you're going to

         14  end up on the short end of the stick in terms of the

         15  quality of life of the City that you purportedly

         16  love.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         18                 MR. O'HARE: Thank you.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS:

         20  Councilwoman, do you have any questions? All right,

         21  thank you. Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

         23  is Daniel Karatzas. Is he here? Okay, then we're

         24  going to hear from George Sweeting, of the New York

         25  City Independent Budget Office. Followed by Marsha
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          2  Van Wagner of the Citizens' Budget Commission.

          3                 Mr. Sweeting, do you have prepared

          4  testimony?

          5                 MR. SWEETING: I do. It's being

          6  distributed. Good morning. Yes, it's still morning.

          7  Good morning, Chairman Weprin and members of the

          8  Committee. My name is George Sweeting, and I'm the

          9  Deputy Director at the New York City Independent

         10  Budget Office. I appreciate the opportunity to

         11  appear before you regarding the property tax

         12  statement of residential cooperatives and

         13  condominiums, and the effectiveness of the current

         14  co-op and condo abatement that was created for the

         15  beginning of 1997.

         16                 The abatement was the first step

         17  toward giving apartment owners the same tax benefits

         18  as private homeowners. Unfortunately, due the

         19  vagaries of New York City's property tax laws and

         20  the formulation of the original abatements, some

         21  co-op and condo owners are reeping tax benefits,

         22  even beyond what private home-owners receive.

         23                 This is particularly true on the

         24  Upper East Side and Upper West Side in Manhattan.

         25  More than one-third of the abatements at a cost of
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          2  $88 million to the City, goes to co-op and condo

          3  owners who already have tax rates at or below that

          4  of private homeowners. At the same time, even with

          5  the abatement, virtually all co-op and condo owners

          6  in the boroughs other than Manhattan, still face tax

          7  burdens that are well above those of private

          8  homeowners.

          9                 The abatement's shortcomings may have

         10  been initially tolerated because it was supposed to

         11  be only a stop gap measure pending more

         12  comprehensive reform. Seven years later, the

         13  shortcomings remain and there is still no plan to

         14  move to a more comprehensive solution. If the

         15  abatement becomes the last word on co-op/condo

         16  reform, the City needs to consider attending to some

         17  of its shortcomings when the program is up for

         18  renewal this year.

         19                 For example, if additional benefits

         20  are being considered as part of the renewal, those

         21  benefits could be targeted to the parts of the City

         22  where the largest differences between home-owner and

         23  co-op and condo tax burdens remain.

         24                 As members of this Committee know

         25  quite well, the New York City property tax system is
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          2  extremely complicated. There are four classes of

          3  property, each class has a different assessment

          4  ratio, a different assessment method, a different

          5  process to limit assessment increases and a

          6  different tax rate.

          7                 The average taxpayer has a difficult

          8  time comparing the tax burden of two properties in

          9  the same tax class, and an even greater difficulty

         10  comparing properties in different classes.

         11                 To overcome these difficulties, we

         12  compare properties based on the effective tax rate,

         13  which is computed by dividing the final tax bill by

         14  the full market value of each property.

         15                 When dealing with co-ops and condos

         16  there is further complication in computing the

         17  effective tax rate. Under Section 581 of the New

         18  York State real property law, these properties are

         19  to be valued as if they are rental properties. And

         20  indeed, until very recently the City has tended to

         21  value them as if they were rent regulated

         22  properties.

         23                 As a result, the City's official

         24  valuations for co-ops and condos tend to be much

         25  lower than if the property were valued using sales
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          2  based market values, although the extent of the

          3  difference varies across the City.

          4                 Given that the goal of co-op/condo

          5  reform is to obtain the same tax treatment as class

          6  1 homes, where sales prices are the basis for

          7  setting market values, it seems reasonable to use

          8  sales based market values when computing the

          9  effective tax rate for co-ops and condos.

         10                 Our effective tax rate analysis

         11  indicates that there are very wide disparities in

         12  the tax burden, not just between tax class 1 and tax

         13  class 2 but within the co-op and condo class as

         14  well. I have included a table at the end of this

         15  testimony that summarizes the differences by

         16  borough.

         17                 In Manhattan, the typical co-op owner

         18  faces a tax burden before accounting for the

         19  abatement, which is nearly as low as those enjoyed

         20  by Manhattan tax class 1 owners. The story is quite

         21  different in the other boroughs, where co-ops and

         22  condos bear significantly higher tax burdens than

         23  private homes.

         24                 Comprehensive co-op and condo reform

         25  was expected to involve a shift to sales-based
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          2  evaluation and the application of the tax class 1

          3  assessment ratio and tax rates to the properties.

          4                 In the mid-1990s, the Department of

          5  Finance asked for time to resolve several knotty

          6  methodological and technological issues. Pending

          7  development of a plan to achieve comprehensive

          8  reform, the current abatement was adopted as a

          9  stop-gap to give some immediate relief.

         10                 Because it operates on top of the

         11  existing assessment system, which ignores co-op and

         12  condo sales prices, the current abatement doesn't

         13  take into account the differences in how much relief

         14  is needed to deliver a tax class one burden.

         15                 As a temporary fix, such rough

         16  justice was accepted. But with the program now

         17  apparently permanent, the inefficiencies in the

         18  current abatement stand out.

         19                 IBO estimates that of the $250

         20  million in tax relief that will be paid through the

         21  co-op condo abatement in Fiscal Year 2004, 88

         22  million, that's 35 percent of the total, is unneeded

         23  if the goal is to give co-op and condo owners a tax

         24  class 1 tax burden.

         25                 More than two-thirds of the
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          2  unnecessary spending goes to owners with effective

          3  tax rates below the tax class 1 level before the

          4  abatement. The balance goes to those with effective

          5  tax rates above the tax class 1 level, but who do

          6  not need all of their abatement benefit to reach the

          7  tax class one effective tax rate.

          8                 Virtually all of the unnecessary

          9  spending occurs in Manhattan, particularly in the

         10  prime co-op neighborhoods east and west of Central

         11  Park.

         12                 When the abatement is up for renewal,

         13  the City might want to consider ways of reducing the

         14  inefficiency. Although, this is a polite way of

         15  saying raise some people's taxes.

         16                 The value of the abatement might be

         17  reduced in some parts of Manhattan or even

         18  eliminated. If you are thinking about enhancing the

         19  abatement, one way of doing it would be to triple

         20  the benefit for co-ops and condos outside Manhattan,

         21  while leaving the current abatement rules in place

         22  in Manhattan.

         23                 This would increase the cost of the

         24  program by 100 million, and give most non-Manhattan

         25  co-op and condo owners the equivalent of a tax 1 tax
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          2  burden.

          3                 Nevertheless, no amount of tinkering

          4  with the abatement will deliver an equal benefit to

          5  all apartment owners. To do this requires changing

          6  assessment practices, so that co-ops and condos are

          7  valued and taxed like a private home.

          8                 IBO estimates that such a shift which

          9  implies raising taxes on those apartments currently

         10  below tax class 1 levels, would cost $287 million,

         11  only $37 million more than the cost of a current

         12  abatement.

         13                 Although some of the problems in

         14  moving to such a solution that were raised by the

         15  Department of Finance no doubt remain, the fiscal

         16  impact of such a shift would no longer be very

         17  great.

         18                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         19  to testify, and I'd be happy to answer any questions

         20  you may have.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Sweeney.

         23                 Before I ask a question, I just want

         24  to say that you see a lot of activity going in and

         25  out with our colleagues, it's because there are so
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          2  many meetings and where votes have to take place so

          3  that you see it's not a lack of interest, or any

          4  disrespect, it's just what our responsibilities call

          5  for, and as a result we continually play musical

          6  chairs from one meeting to another.

          7                 MR. SWEETING: I'm used to the

          8  process.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         10                 When you estimated about one-third of

         11  co-op and condo owners currently receiving the

         12  abatement pay taxes comparable to class 1 owners,

         13  did you take into account the median assessment

         14  ratio for class 1 owners that dropped to about 4.7

         15  percent on the fiscal 2005 tentative roll?

         16                 MR. SWEETING: Yes. First of all, I

         17  didn't say one-third of the people receiving the

         18  benefit, one-third of the dollars.

         19                 But we computed that by comparing, we

         20  took the tax class 1 current real effective tax

         21  rate, which reflects the much lower assessment

         22  ratios, in tax class 1, we took those into account

         23  when we did that comparison.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I see,

         25  okay.
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          2                 And how do you plan to administer a

          3  program that excludes certain owners from receiving

          4  the co-op/condo abatement? How do you suggest doing

          5  that?

          6                 MR. SWEETING: You know, I think the

          7  City has other programs in place that are limited by

          8  geography. One possibility would be to limit it by

          9  the assessed value of the apartment.

         10                 There's already a break in the

         11  abatement program, between apartments with assessed

         12  value of $15,000, you know, above and below that

         13  there are different rates. You could add a third

         14  rate that would presumably put a rate like at

         15  $50,000 and have a very low abatement or even no

         16  abatement for such houses. That would be one

         17  possibility. I'm not making that particular

         18  suggestion.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right.

         20                 Council Member Brewer, you have a

         21  question?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thanks,

         23  George. Just don't mess with my west side co-op. I'm

         24  reading this very carefully. And Marianne Rossman is

         25  watching you too. Right, Marianne? So, we will look
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          2  at this.

          3                 What is the reason? Is it based on

          4  the Manhattan rents that we are so much out of sync

          5  from the rest of the City; what's the basis of that

          6  calculation?

          7                 MR. SWEETING: I think that's the main

          8  issue, the difference in the rents that are being

          9  used as to comparable values.

         10                 The rents in much of the City, you

         11  know, aren't that different than the sales price. I

         12  mean there is still some difference, but if you work

         13  it out, they're certainly closer to the imputed

         14  rental income -- I'm sorry, the imputed, the sales

         15  price, the relationship is much greater in Manhattan

         16  than it is in the other boroughs.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Well,

         18  this is certainly to be looked at. I don't know if I

         19  agree with you, but I appreciate it.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And our

         22  last scheduled speaker is Marcia Van Wagner from the

         23  Citizens' Budget Commission.

         24                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Good morning. My name

         25  is Marcia Van Wagner. I'm Chief Economist and Deputy
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          2  Research Director at the Citizens' Budget

          3  Commission.

          4                 The Commission is a private,

          5  non-profit civic organization dedicated to promoting

          6  better financial management and service delivery by

          7  New York City and State government. And I want to

          8  thank the members of the Committee for having me

          9  here today to present testimony on the inequitable

         10  treatment of class 2 co-ops and condos.

         11                 I'm going to talk a little bit about

         12  equity, and in the case of the property tax, which

         13  is a tax on property value, equity would demand that

         14  properties of similar value be taxed similarly. And

         15  you know, you're familiar with many of the problems

         16  with the property tax, it's true across the gamut of

         17  classes in the property tax that the tax is highly

         18  inequitable. It's inequitable between classes, it's

         19  inequitable within classes, it's overall an

         20  inequitable tax.

         21                 So, the issue of inequity between

         22  class 1 and class 2 co-ops is only one smidgen of

         23  the overall inequity that the tax imposes on the

         24  taxpayers.

         25                 I also have, I'm not going to read
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          2  the testimony, I have a table in here that shows --

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: You might

          4  want to highlight from your testimony and stress

          5  those points that you feel that we should all hear,

          6  because this will go into the record.

          7                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Right. So, I have a

          8  table at the end that goes over the effective tax

          9  rates of the different classes. In other words, the

         10  tax levy compared to the market value in the

         11  classes. It shows the difference between the class

         12  1. This is based on the most recent tentative role,

         13  so it's kind of an estimate of about.70 cents out of

         14  every hundred dollars of value, ranging up to class

         15  3 over $5 for every $100 of value.

         16                 There's a very wide disparity among

         17  the classes in treatment of similarly valued

         18  property.

         19                 Now, one of the logic behind

         20  disparity behind residential and commercial is that

         21  not everyone who is legally required to pay a tax is

         22  actually paying it. And I want to talk a little bit

         23  about who actually pays the taxes.

         24                 Homeowners generally are not in a

         25  position to pass off their taxes to someone else,
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          2  and there are a few lucky people out there who can

          3  do that, but the tax really falls on the home-owners

          4  to pay the tax. And that's also the case of co-ops

          5  and condo owners, that generally speaking they're

          6  not in the position to pass on the cause of tax

          7  increases.

          8                 But that's not necessarily the case

          9  of owners of residential buildings, and commercial

         10  property owners.

         11                 For rental buildings, and I want to

         12  note that rental properties account for about ten

         13  percent of market value, but 16 percent of a tax

         14  levy. So, it's a disproportionate share of the

         15  overall tax levy compared to market value, landlords

         16  are able to push some of that disproportionate tax

         17  payment off onto tenants. And I just want to give

         18  you an example. The operating costs are a

         19  significant factor in the Rent Guideline Board's

         20  deliberations when they set rent increases.

         21                 The most recent rent increase for

         22  rent stabilized units approved by the Rent

         23  Guidelines Board with 4.5 percent for one-year

         24  leases, and 7.5 percent for two-year leases. Higher

         25  taxes accounted for about one-quarter of the

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  operating cost increases considered when they made

          3  this decision.

          4                 The rent stabilized tenant whose

          5  median income is about half the median income of

          6  homeowners, are certain to pay some portion of that

          7  increased tax, and as leases are renewed over time

          8  more tenants will be paying a portion of that higher

          9  property tax.

         10                 Class 3 is a utility property. Those

         11  taxes tend to get passed off onto the consumer in

         12  the utility bill, so everyone pays a class 3

         13  property tax in accordance with consumption of those

         14  utility items, the gas, and electricity and so

         15  forth.

         16                 Class 4, commercial property owners,

         17  everyone knows are responsible for a

         18  disproportionate share of the tax. They overpay

         19  substantially relative to the market value of their

         20  property. Again, commercial landlords typically can

         21  pass the cost of property taxes onto their tenants

         22  through lease provision. Do the tenants pay 100

         23  percent of the tax? No, because as the budget

         24  director was explaining earlier, occupancy costs

         25  are, tenants sign leases based on their overall
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          2  sense of occupancy cost, the rent plus their

          3  perceived carrying cost, the property taxes and so

          4  forth.

          5                 If taxes are higher then people are

          6  going to negotiate a little bit harder on the

          7  underlying rent when they sign leases, so that the

          8  share of the property tax gets, sort of goes back

          9  and forth between the tenants and the landlords,

         10  depending on what kind of commercial real estate

         11  market you're in.

         12                 In many cases, the commercial tenants

         13  are able to pass their higher property tax costs off

         14  onto their customers, and if the customers are based

         15  outside the City then this tax meets the test of the

         16  most fair tax, which is the tax that somebody else

         17  pays. And I want to get back to that in a minute.

         18                 This question of who pays the taxes

         19  has economic implications. I mean, let's start with

         20  home-owners, and I think that, again, the budget

         21  director mentioned the issue earlier, I think the

         22  reason behind low property tax, the policy in the

         23  City is to try and retain middle class residents in

         24  the City.

         25                 The problem with that logic is that
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          2  lower property taxes are what we call capitalized

          3  into higher home prices, and that is true for

          4  single-family homes, it is true for co-ops and

          5  condos.

          6                 The same way that we know the

          7  interest rates have been low over the last several

          8  years, that's resulted in higher home prices,

          9  relatively low property taxes have the same effect.

         10  Again, the Budget Director cited the price disparity

         11  between a home in Queens and a home in Nassau County

         12  not very far away, that it contributes to very high

         13  housing prices.

         14                 So, that's great if you already own a

         15  home and your house price is up because your

         16  property taxes are low, but for first-time

         17  home-owners, and even for people buying a house for

         18  the second time, the high prices are very

         19  discouraging in terms of purchasing homes in this

         20  City. Because you have to have a higher downpayment,

         21  you have to take out a higher mortgage.

         22                 This seems contrary to the goal of

         23  retaining middle class home-owners. Low property

         24  taxes across the board for residential properties is

         25  not an affordable housing policy, does not result in
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          2  affordable housing.

          3                 You can have targeted tax breaks for

          4  people with low incomes through what they call circ

          5  breakers. That helps people able to stay in their

          6  homes. But across the board low property taxes again

          7  are not an affordable housing policy.

          8                 The same system that bestows tax

          9  breaks and abatements upon relatively well off

         10  home-owners, pushes the tax onto renters whose

         11  incomes, I will reiterate, are much lower than

         12  home-owners, co-ops and condos or single-family

         13  homes, and puts disproportionate upward pressure on

         14  rents and the budgets of tenants at 24,000 parcels

         15  across the City.

         16                 This additional burden is one more

         17  obstacle to creating affordable housing in New York

         18  City.

         19                 Now, let's turn back to commercial

         20  property owners. It's true that a large portion of a

         21  class 4 property tax is paid for by large, wealthy,

         22  multi-national corporations particularly in the

         23  financial sector and their customers.

         24                 Nearly half of the Citywide class 4

         25  available billable assessed value, and almost
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          2  one-fifth of overall billable assessed value is

          3  accounted for by office buildings in Manhattan.

          4                 But even those who compete in the

          5  national and global marketplace, are competing at

          6  least partly on price. Many of them as public

          7  corporations, are also under pressure to show lien

          8  balance sheets and strong profits.

          9                 While it would be nice if the

         10  financial sector would forever uncomplainingly bear

         11  disproportionate costs, it's not a reasonable

         12  expectation, and it's in many ways self-defeating.

         13                 One need only look across the river

         14  at Jersey City, at the Jersey City shoreline for

         15  confirmation that New York's high occupancy cost of

         16  which high commercial property taxes are one

         17  component, affect the decisions of these firms. At

         18  last count, the effective tax rate for commercial

         19  property in New York was 65 percent higher than the

         20  median commercial rate in New Jersey, even before

         21  accounting for differences in economic development

         22  incentives which are quite substantial.

         23                 The impact of higher occupancy cost

         24  is not limited to effecting the decisions of Goldman

         25  Sachs and Merrill Lynch and companies like that. One
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          2  of the challenges facing this City is our ability to

          3  foster and retain businesses across diverse

          4  industries. Occupancy costs, including taxes, are

          5  one of the barriers making it difficult for many

          6  businesses, small start-ups, manufacturers, firms

          7  with small profit margins, those who own their own

          8  buildings and so on, to compete and thrive in New

          9  York City.

         10                 But what does this have to do with

         11  the inequity between Class 1 homeowners and Class 2

         12  co-op owners. The solution chosen to address that

         13  inequity is to make class 2 homeowners more like

         14  class 1 owners through a tax abatement.

         15                 Along with many other actions that

         16  have been taken over time, this contributes to the

         17  wide disparity and treatment of commercial versus

         18  residential property and contributes also to the

         19  continual shifting of burden from owners of

         20  residential property to residential and commercial

         21  renters and landlords. This is bad public policy.

         22                 Good public policy would be to

         23  redirect the effort involved in the biennial

         24  extension of the co-op condo abatement to working

         25  with the Mayor and Albany to craft a through going
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          2  reform of property tax.

          3                 Such a reform would over time reduce

          4  the disparities between residential and commercial

          5  properties and help the City retain the residents

          6  and businesses it needs to strengthen our economy.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

          9                 Your table on that last page shows

         10  just how complex the property tax has been, and how

         11  over so many years so much has been built in. So the

         12  recommendation to take and look and overhaul and

         13  start that process for this taxation is a good thing

         14  to do. It's not something that's going to happen

         15  overnight. The fact is, it hasn't really even

         16  started. Abatements are not starting, they're

         17  one-time things and they're not meant to, they're

         18  not targeted to really deal with a long-term

         19  solution. They are one-time thing and why Albany

         20  every year has to vote on that.

         21                 So, your recommendations, for me

         22  anyway, I think is where we have to start, and that

         23  was the whole purpose of this resolution.

         24                 In light of your testimony, and it's

         25  a little bit off the track, what about the Mayor's
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          2  rebate versus the Council's across the board giving

          3  that kind of a rebate?

          4                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Well, our position on

          5  that is that, the choice between the Mayor's

          6  proposal and the Council's proposal, I think we

          7  prefer the Council's proposal. However, we think

          8  that preferable to both of those proposals, the City

          9  borrowed about $2 million for operating purposes

         10  last year, and that is something that is going to be

         11  being paid off for the next 30 years by our children

         12  for the services we consumed in one year.

         13                 We think it would be wiser if there

         14  was money jangling around, $250 million, to pay a

         15  portion of that borrowed operating money off.

         16  That's the right thing to do. That asking our

         17  children to pay for our garbage pick-up last year is

         18  not the right thing to do. That would be our

         19  preferred use of that money.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Do you

         21  think that some of those expenses should be

         22  reimbursed by the federal government?

         23                 Because you know, the Finance

         24  Committee is the one who ultimately submits the

         25  budget to the Council for its full vote, and we meet
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          2  with every agency and when we all came into office,

          3  we dealt with a devastating budget, and we had to

          4  make some very hard decisions. Don't you think that

          5  the federal government should be reimbursing for

          6  some of what is there, that when you talk about the

          7  long-term debt services.

          8                 Because when we came in we had, we

          9  inherited this Council for a very long-term debt

         10  service. Grandchildren will still be paying for it.

         11                 And it seems that the federal

         12  government needs to look at just what happened at

         13  9/11 and our lack of reimbursement. Do you think

         14  that that is some of the responsibility of the

         15  federal government?

         16                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Well, the City did

         17  get some assistance from the federal government.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes, we

         19  did. They also were denied quite a bit.

         20                 MS. VAN WAGNER: That's true. And I

         21  think that if the federal government were to come in

         22  and pay that money back, I think that would be

         23  great.

         24                 Short of the federal government doing

         25  that, I think that it's been the City's
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          2  responsibility to try and deal in responsible ways

          3  with that debt. We can't always have the best case

          4  solution. As I said, you know, I think it would be

          5  great if the feds did it. I'm not holding my breath

          6  for that, and consequently I think the City should

          7  be planning a responsible approach to paying off

          8  that operating debt.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, when

         10  we do the budget, we do take into consideration part

         11  of that stuff that we have to do, and then those

         12  decisions are made, what you cut, what you keep in,

         13  and what are those mandated obligations that we have

         14  no choice and they're not arbitrary for us.

         15                 I thank you for your comments.

         16                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Council

         18  Member Brewer has a question for you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Marcia, thank

         20  you. You're always so articulate. I appreciate it.

         21                 One question I have is, I know that

         22  obviously representing a lot of co-ops and condos, I

         23  certainly support the abatement. But when you say

         24  good public policy would involve this

         25  reorganization, is that something that you've
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          2  outlined, not here today obviously, but have you

          3  done an extensive outline of that?

          4                 MS. VAN WAGNER: We haven't done an

          5  extensive outline of that.

          6                 I think we haven't developed a full

          7  position on it. I think the concept for us is that

          8  the property tax should be reformed, that it should

          9  be phased in over time. Again, as the budget

         10  director said, if you make any changes of the

         11  structure of the tax it affects people's property

         12  values in various ways, and that is something you

         13  need to do over a long period of time. But I don't

         14  have a report that I can hand you on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And the

         16  other question is, you think this is perhaps again a

         17  Manhattan issue, but one of the issues that comes up

         18  with us in terms of the commercial tenants, and I'm

         19  talking more about store fronts, perhaps, is that

         20  because there is a lot of pass along, and it's not

         21  just property tax and insurance and other things

         22  that get passed along, that one ends up with a lot

         23  of larger stores, and less neighborhood stores.

         24  That's another argument for trying to think about

         25  these issues differently, but of course, not
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          2  shifting it back to co-ops, condos and class 1's.

          3  But is that something that is sort of out of the

          4  discussion point for today, but how we think about

          5  this whole process I think has to involve what your

          6  end product is. And you mentioned the renters, and I

          7  was very pleased that you mentioned that, and the

          8  disparity there. There has been some discussion I

          9  think from the Speaker, I'm trying to think of those

         10  buildings in particular, mostly because the median

         11  income is so much lower than other. Is that

         12  something that has been discussed in your realm,

         13  even more extensively?

         14                 MS. VAN WAGNER: Again, it's not

         15  something we have a report on. We're concerned about

         16  the issue. There's many things to be concerned about

         17  in the property tax, and, you know, I can get very

         18  worked up about virtually any portion of it, given a

         19  chance. And the venture issue I think is a serious

         20  inequity in the tax and one that there is rarely any

         21  proposals to do anything about, and it's a shame.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, we'll

         23  talk about it further. Thank you very much.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

         25  Ms. Van Wagner. Is there anyone who would like to
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          2  have a comment before we close the meeting?

          3                 Ms. Vavruska.

          4                 MS. VAVRUSKA: As you know, all

          5  property owners, according to income enjoy the

          6  effects of STAR the property tax, and also Enhanced

          7  STAR trends and even senior tax breaks, that's one-,

          8  two-, three-family homes and in co-ops and condos.

          9  However, I discovered about two years ago or more

         10  that in reviewing all of the abatements for all of

         11  our people, our seniors and so forth, that actually

         12  the more abatement a person gets, because they're

         13  more low income, Enhanced STAR, the less they

         14  actually get in their tax abatement.

         15                 In other words, let's say someone got

         16  $800 in Veterans' abatements, Enhanced STAR and so

         17  forth, they would only probably be getting a basic

         18  tax abatement of say $200 or $300 as opposed to

         19  someone in a comparable unit which would be getting

         20  $400 or $500. So, in fact, one- to three-family

         21  homeowners who are getting Enhanced STAR get a full

         22  abatement, you know, on that, whereas, the co-op

         23  person who is supposed to be getting abatement, that

         24  basic abatement to make them comparable to one- to

         25  three-family homes, it's actually not even enjoying
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          2  that full basic abatement.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I think

          4  that's something that we'll have to look into.

          5                 MS. VAVRUSKA: I've taken it to the

          6  State Legislator, Assemblyman Ivan Lafayette brought

          7  it to the Assembly's Council, and that's the way the

          8  law was written, and they think it's perfectly

          9  acceptable.

         10                 Now, that doesn't address the whole

         11  issue, but I'm just saying there's certain built-in

         12  inequities even in the abatement process.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 In closing, I just want to thank you

         17  all and tell you that it's a big step forward to

         18  have this hearing, and I thank, once again, Chair

         19  Weprin, who is attending another meeting, and thank

         20  you, all, and we'll move on from here.

         21                 I officially declare this meeting

         22  adjourned, this hearing.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 12:05 p.m.)
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